# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SUPREME COURT
FILED

APR 1 6 2013

Avery Richey, Plaintiff and Appellant,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

v.

AutoNation, Inc., et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Seven, Case No. B234711
Los Angeles County Superior Court; Case No.BC408319
Honorable Malcolm H. Mackey

# Opening Brief on the Merits

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.
\*Richard A. Derevan (#60960)
Frank Cronin (#69840)
Erin Denniston Leach (#247785)
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 1400
Costa Mesa, California 92626

Tel: 714-427-7000 Fax: 714-427-7799

e-mail: rderevan@swlaw.com

#### **Issues Presented**

This case presents the following issues for review:

- 1. What is the proper standard of judicial review of an arbitration award involving an employee's "unwaivable rights" where the arbitrator decides the case by written decision following an evidentiary hearing on the merits of the plaintiff-employee's claim?
- 2. Does an employer violate CFRA by terminating an employee on approved medical leave where the employer has an honest belief that the employee is abusing the leave or violating company policy?

### Statement of the Facts and Procedural History

A. Richey's employment at AutoNation, his termination, and the order compelling arbitration

Richey was an employee of an auto dealership, Power Toyota Cerritos. [3CT 538.] Between October 2007 and February 2008 while still working full time, Richey prepared to, and did, open a restaurant. [3CT 539.] Richey's production at the dealership suffered because he was "distracted" by the restaurant business and was a "bit off his game." [3CT 539.] In March 2008 he suffered a back injury at home, filed for medical leave under the Moore-Brown-Roberti Family Rights Act (Government Code §§ 12945.1, 12945.2) (CFRA), and was granted leave. [3CT 540.] The leave was extended more than once and was ultimately due to expire at the end of May 2008. [3CT 540.]

In April 2008, while Richey was still on medical leave from the dealership and receiving disability benefits, AutoNation learned that he nevertheless was working at his restaurant. [3CT 541.] AutoNation's<sup>1</sup> employee handbook limits work employees may do while on approved leave:

Outside work while on FMLA<sup>2</sup> Leave is Prohibited. [¶] You are not allowed to accept employment with another company while you are on approved FMLA leave.

[3CT 552.] The arbitrator found that even though in his opinion the employee manual was "poorly written," "there was a general understanding in the workplace at Power—that outside employment was against company policy and others had been terminated for violating this rule." [3CT 553.]

Having learned that Richey was working at the restaurant, Richey's supervisor sent Richey a letter advising him of the company policy barring other employment, including self-employment, while on leave and invited Richey to call him if Richey had any questions. [3CT 541.] Richey ignored the letter. He did not communicate with his supervisor because he believed

Power Toyota Cerritos is part of the AutoNation family of companies. To be consistent with the court of appeal opinion, we refer to petitioners collectively as "AutoNation."

<sup>&</sup>quot;FMLA" is the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the federal counterpart to the CFRA. [Typed Op'n at 4.] References to "Typed Op'n" are to the court of appeal's opinion filed November 13, 2012.

the supervisor had misread the handbook and had misstated company policy. [3CT 541.]

Several times after AutoNation sent Richey the letter, supervisors and employees of the dealership saw Richey working at the restaurant. [3CT 541.] Not having heard back from Richey, and because he was violating company policy, AutoNation terminated Richey "based on the company's finding that [Richey] was in violation of policy, to wit: engaging in outside employment while on leave of absence." [3CT 542.] The arbitrator also found that the supervisor who sent the termination letter to Richey "was concerned about two issues: a) Was Mr. Richey honest with the dealership about his medical condition, and b) did [Richey] have another job?" [3CT 553.]

Following his termination, Richey sued several companies in Power Toyota's chain of ownership (AutoNation, Inc., Webb Automotive Group, Inc., Mr. Wheels, Inc.) and his immediate supervisor, Rudy Sandoval (all of which we are collectively calling "AutoNation" in this brief). Richey's complaint alleged a number of theories, including racial discrimination, harassment, retaliation for taking approved leave under CFRA, and failure to be reinstated following approved CFRA leave. [1CT 5, 76, 140.] The trial court granted AutoNation's motion to compel arbitration and ordered the case to be arbitrated. [2CT 252.]

Mr. Wheels, Inc. is a dba for Power Toyota Cerritos.

## B. A retired superior court judge conducts an 11day arbitration and issues a 19-page award against Richey on all his claims

A retired superior court judge, Luis A. Cardenas, was selected to be the arbitrator. [3CT 537.] The arbitrator tried Richey's claims over an 11-day period, featuring 19 witnesses, all called by Richey. [3CT 537, 563.] The evidentiary hearings were not reported, so no transcript exists of the hearings.

After taking the case under submission, the arbitrator issued a 19-page final award in favor of AutoNation on all of Richey's claims, discussing the procedural history, the evidence, and the legal issues. [3CT 537-55.] With respect to Richey's failure to reinstate claim, the arbitrator stated the legal issue as follows: "[W]hether the law provides a protective shell over Mr. Richey that bars his termination until he is cleared to return to work by his physician, or does the law allow an employer to let an employee go, while on approved leave, for other non-discriminatory reasons?" [3CT 548 (emphasis in original); see Typed Op'n at 4-5.]<sup>4</sup>

The arbitrator found that Richey's supervisor was concerned whether Richey was being honest with the dealership about his medical condition and whether he had another job in violation of AutoNation policy prohibiting other employment

Richey's motion to vacate the award challenged only the arbitrator's ruling on Richey's CFRA claims; accordingly this brief will not discuss the arbitrator's disposition of Richey's other claims, including his discrimination and harassment claims.

while on leave. [3CT 553.] In upholding Richey's termination, the arbitrator wrote that "case law, as recited above, allows [AutoNation] to terminate Mr. Richey if it has an 'honest' belief that he is abusing his medical leave and/or is not telling the company the truth about his outside employment." [3CT 553.] The arbitrator concluded that "The weight of the evidence is overwhelming that Power Toyota fired Mr. Richey for non-discriminatory reasons. His CFRA/FMLA status is not an absolute bar to termination. His medical leave status does not protect Mr. Richey from smart decisions, or bad ones, made by [AutoNation], so long as the basis for the decision is legally proper." [3CT 554.]

C. The trial court denies Richey's motion to vacate the award and enters judgment in AutoNation's favor; the court of appeal reverses and this court grants review

Richey sought to vacate the award on limited grounds. He did not challenge the arbitrator's decision as to his racial discrimination claims, but argued only that the arbitrator committed legal error by invoking the honest belief defense to defeat Richey's CFRA reinstatement claim. [2CT 274-282.] The trial court confirmed the award and Richey appealed. [4CT 731, 775.]

On appeal, the court of appeal reversed, holding that the arbitrator wrongly accepted the honest belief defense, made an error of law, and therefore had exceeded his powers. [Typed Op'n at 2.] This court granted AutoNation's petition for review.

### Legal Discussion

Ι

### General Principles of Arbitral Review

# A. The merits of arbitration awards are generally unreviewable

An arbitration is not a trial. When parties agree to arbitration, in the absence of some specification to the contrary in the arbitration agreement, arbitrators are free to decide a case based upon "broad principles of justice and equity." *Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 10. "Because the decision to arbitrate grievances evinces the parties' intent to bypass the judicial system and thus avoid potential delays at the trial and appellate levels, arbitral finality is a core component of the parties' agreement to submit to arbitration." *Ibid*.

As such, "the scope of judicial review is strictly limited . . . ." [Typed Op'n at 7 (citing Moncharsh, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 10).] In Moncharsh this court declared that "in the absence of some limiting clause in the arbitration agreement, the merits of the award, either on questions of fact or of law, may not be reviewed except as provided in the statute." Cable Connection, Inc. v. DIRECTV, Inc. (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1334, 1357 (quoting Moncharsh, 3 Cal.4th at 25). Indeed, Moncharsh went so far to say that an award is ordinarily not reviewable "for errors of fact or law, whether or not such error appears on the face of the award and causes substantial injustice to the parties." 3 Cal.4th at 6.

Instead, as this court has explained, the California Arbitration Act provides "only limited grounds for judicial review of an arbitration award." *Cable Connection, supra,* 44 Cal.4th at 1344. Those grounds are enumerated in section 1286.2 of the Code of Civil Procedure, which permits an award to be vacated if the award was "(1) procured by corruption, fraud, or undue means; (2) issued by corrupt arbitrators; (3) affected by prejudicial misconduct on the part of the arbitrators; or (4) in excess of the arbitrators' powers." *Id.* at 1344.

This is true even where the arbitration agreement—as this one does [1CT 165]—requires the arbitrators to rule on the basis of the law, rather than general principles of equity and justice. 
"A provision requiring arbitrators to apply the law leaves open the possibility that they are empowered to apply it 'wrongly as well as rightly." Cable Connection, supra, 44 Cal.4th at 1360 (quoting Utah Constr. Co. v. Western Pac. Ry. Co. (1917) 174 Cal. 156, 163). "Inherent in that power is the possibility the arbitrator may err in deciding some aspect of the case. Arbitrators do not ordinarily exceed their contractually created powers simply by reaching an erroneous conclusion on a contested issue of law or fact, and arbitral awards may not ordinarily be vacated because of such error . . . ." Cable Connection, 44 Cal.4th at 1360. Instead.

The arbitration agreement provides in part that "[r]esolution of the dispute shall be based solely upon the law governing the claims and defenses set forth in the pleadings and the arbitrator may not invoke any basis (including but not limited to, notions of 'just cause') other than controlling law." [1CT 165.]

as this court continued, "to take themselves out of the general rule that the merits of the award are not subject to judicial review, the parties must clearly agree that legal errors are an excess of arbitral authority that are reviewable by the courts." *Id.* at 1361. Richey has never claimed—and the court of appeal did not find—that this arbitration agreement meets *Cable Connection's* exacting standard for agreements for judicial review. See *City of Richmond v. Service Employees Internat. Union, Local 1021* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 663, 669 n.4 (arbitration clause providing that arbitrator "shall make no decisions in violation of existing law is a standard arbitration provision that does not provide for such review").

# B. Moncharsh identified "limited and exceptional" circumstances permitting judicial review

Moncharsh acknowledged one exception to the general rule that the merits of arbitration awards may not be reviewed and held out the possibility of a second. Quoting an earlier decision involving an unlicensed contractor, Moncharsh noted that "the rules which give finality to the arbitrator's determination of ordinary questions of fact or of law are inapplicable where the issue of illegality of the entire transaction is raised in a proceeding for the enforcement of the arbitrator's award." Moncharsh, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 31 (quoting Loving & Evans v. Blick (1949) 33 Cal.2d 603, 609) (emphasis in original). Moncharsh also acknowledged that "there may be some limited and exceptional circumstances justifying judicial review of an arbitrator's decision when a party claims illegality affects only a portion of the

underlying contract. Such cases would include those in which granting finality to an arbitrator's decision would be inconsistent with the protection of a party's statutory rights." *Moncharsh*, 3 Cal.4th at 32. *Moncharsh* did not discuss what form of review the latter question would take.

In cases following *Moncharsh*, courts have invalidated arbitration awards as being in excess of the arbitrator's powers<sup>7</sup> where the state constitution, a governing statute, or an existing court order has prohibited the arbitrator from granting the relief given or where the award contravenes an explicit public policy. E.g., *Board of Education v. Round Valley Teachers Ass'n* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 269, 272 (Education Code preempted remedy provisions in collective bargaining agreement; therefore arbitrator had no power to order those remedies); *D.C. v. Harvard-Westlake School* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 836, 866 (attorney fee award to defendant based on prevailing party clause in arbitration contract vacated because underlying statute authorized fees to be awarded only to a prevailing *plaintiff*—"the

The standard of review in determining whether arbitrators exceeded their powers by enforcing an illegal contract or making an award that violates public policy is de novo. *Lindenstadt v. Staff Builders, Inc.* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 882, 892 n.7 (applying "a de novo standard" to a "claim[] that the entire contract or transaction underlying the award is illegal").

In *City of Richmond, supra*, the court said that "whether an arbitration award in violation of public policy may be properly categorized as an award in excess of the arbitrator's power is largely a semantic matter that need not detain us. The key consideration for our purposes is that the public policy exception must be applied with care." 189 Cal.App.4th at 670.

one-way provisions are unwaivable statutory rights"); Department of Personnel Administration v. California Correctional Peace Officers Ass'n (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 1193, 1203 (arbitrator exceeded his powers and violated the Dills Act by reforming memorandum of understanding after its terms had been approved by the legislature); Jordan v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 431, 452 (award amounted to unconstitutional gift of public funds in derogation of special statute authorizing arbitration and impliedly limiting amount of award to no more than earlier judgment from which appeal had been dismissed to facilitate arbitration); City of Palo Alto v. Service Employees Internat. Union (1999) 77 Cal.App.4th 327, 338-40 (award vacated because it directly conflicted with lawful injunction). Aside from those narrow circumstances which do not apply here, we are not aware of any case refusing to confirm an arbitration award made after a full evidentiary hearing on the theory that the arbitrator made a substantive error of law.

In two cases involving an employee's unwaivable statutory rights, this court has deferred deciding under what circumstances, if any, an arbitrator's asserted error of law makes the award beyond the arbitrator's powers and therefore subject to vacatur on that ground.

In Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Servs., Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 100 this court discussed review of an arbitration award involving an employee's "unwaivable rights."

In that case, seeking to avoid arbitration altogether, an employee

argued that the lack of judicial review of arbitration awards makes vindication of rights under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (Gov't. Code §§ 12900 et seq., FEHA) illusory because "the arbitrator is essentially free to disregard the law." Armendariz, 24 Cal.4th at 106. In response, and citing *Moncharsh*, this court stated that "judicial review may be appropriate when 'granting finality to an arbitrator's decision would be inconsistent with the protection of a party's statutory rights." Ibid. (quoting Moncharsh, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 32). But because Armendariz arose from a court of appeal decision compelling the parties to arbitrate and not from the merits of an arbitration award, this court said that it had "no occasion to articulate precisely what standard of judicial review is 'sufficient to ensure that arbitrators comply with the requirements of [a] statute." Id. at 107. Armendariz merely required that "for such judicial review to be successfully accomplished, an arbitrator in a FEHA case must issue a written arbitration decision that will reveal, however briefly, the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based." Ibid.

Ten years later, this court revisited the issue of judicial review of an arbitration award involving unwaivable statutory rights. Pearson Dental Supplies, Inc. v. Superior Court (2010) 48 Cal.4th 665. In Pearson Dental, a 4-3 decision, this court said that it was "faced precisely with the question that was prematurely posed in Armendariz, i.e., the proper standard of judicial review of arbitration awards arising from mandatory arbitration employment agreements that arbitrate claims

asserting the employee's unwaivable statutory rights." 48 Cal.4th at 679.

Once again, however, this court did not resolve the scope of review.

In Pearson Dental, the "arbitrator's award . . . did not even comply with the requirements set forth in Armendariz" (48 Cal.4th at 679) and the arbitrator made what this court called a "clear legal error" on a procedural issue, incorrectly holding plaintiff's case to be time-barred. *Ibid*. Because the arbitrator's clear legal error prevented plaintiff's claims from being heard on the merits, this court said it would articulate only a "narrow \[ \] rule . . . sufficient for [the case's] resolution." *Ibid*. The narrow rule this court stated is that where an "employee subject to a mandatory employment arbitration agreement is unable to obtain a hearing on the merits of his FEHA claims, or claims based on other unwaivable statutory rights, because of an arbitration award based on legal error, the trial court does not err in vacating the award." Id. at 680. Stated in other terms, this court said, "an arbitrator whose legal error has barred an employee subject to a mandatory arbitration agreement from obtaining a hearing on the merits of a claim based on such [unwaivable] right has exceeded his or her powers . . . ." Ibid.

Before deciding to issue the "narrow" rule, this court passed on the opportunity to issue a more general rule by (i) rejecting the defendant-employer's position "that all *Armendariz* requires is a written arbitral award" and (ii) refusing to consider the plaintiff's broader argument that the standard of review should be that "all legal errors are reviewable in this context, or that all errors involving the arbitration statute itself are reviewable." 48 Cal.4th at 679. This court left that issue for another day. *Ibid*.

Justice Baxter, joined by Justices Chin and Corrigan, dissented from *Pearson's* call for expanded judicial review where the parties' contract does not call for it as required by Cable Connection, stating that he could not "join in this unsupported and unprecedented move to judicialize the arbitration process." Pearson Dental, supra, 48 Cal.4th at 683. In the dissent's view, the majority opinion "significantly undermine[s] the strong public policy favoring arbitration as a fair, quick, and inexpensive means of resolving disputes." *Ibid*. The dissent went on to explain that where an employee's arbitration agreement (i) satisfies Armendariz's four elements; and (ii) is not subject to revocation for unconscionability, "the risk of arbitral mistake is acceptable because the parties 'voluntarily' submitted to the arbitration and 'agreed to bear that risk in return for a quick, inexpensive, and conclusive resolution to their dispute." Pearson Dental, 48 Cal.4th at 686 (Baxter, J., dissenting) (quoting Moncharsh. supra, 3 Cal.4th at 11).

As we show below, expanded judicial review is not necessary here to make sure the award is consistent with "the protection of [Richey's] statutory rights." *Armendariz*, *supra*, 24 Cal.4th at 106.

### This Arbitrator's Decision Here Should Be Confirmed Based on Ordinary Principles of Arbitral Review

The arbitration award here should be confirmed under ordinary principles of arbitral review.

First, the authority this court cited in Armendariz to support expanded judicial review, Shearson/American Express, Inc. v. McMahon (1987) 482 U.S. 220, as Justice Baxter pointed out in his Pearson Dental dissent, does not stand for that proposition. McMahon did not involve review of an arbitration award at all. The issue in that case was whether by providing for exclusive federal court jurisdiction of claims brought under the 1934 Securities Exchange Act, Congress intended to make a contract calling for arbitration of such disputes invalid. 482 U.S. at 222, 227. A divided court held that Congress did not so intend and enforced the contract. Id. at 238 ("We conclude, therefore, that Congress did not intend for § 29(a) to bar enforcement of all predispute arbitration agreements.").

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