Supreme Court Case Number: S207536

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 17 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

AVERY RICHEY,

Plaintiff/Appellant

VS.

AUTONATION, INC., et al.

Defendants/Respondents.

Court of Appeals, Second Appellant District,
Division Seven, Case No. B234711
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC408319
Hon. Malcolm H. Mackey

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Scott O. Cummings, Esq.
State Bar Number 204111
1025 W. 190th Street, Suite 200
Gardena, California 90248
Telephone (310) 295-2195
e-mail: scott@cummingsandfranck.com

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant Avery Richey

Supreme Court Case Number: S207536

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

Furthermore, the Federal Regulations on FMLA, 29 CFR 825.702(d)(1) states

"If FMLA entitles an employee to leave, an employer may not, in lieu of FMLA leave entitlement, require an employee to take a job with a reasonable accommodation. However, ADA may require that an employer offer an employee the opportunity to take such a position. An employer may not change the essential functions of the job in order to deny FMLA leave. See § 825.220(b)."

Thus, it would have been a violation of CFRA for Power Toyota to require Appellant to return to work with some accommodations so he could do the essential functions of his full-time job.

Pursuant CFRA at Title 2, California Code of Regulations § 7297.10, federal regulation 29 CFR § 825.220(a) is incorporated into CFRA. 29 CFR § 825.220(a) prohibits an employee "from interfering with, restraining, or denying the exercise of (or attempts to exercise) any rights provided by the Act. ... " Furthermore, interference claims have been codified into CFRA. See Government Code § 12945.2(t) (by amendment 2012).

Clearly Power Toyota policy in its Handbook is a restraint on FMLA leave, and is discriminatory against FMLA medical leave because it targets medical leave under the FMLA as opposed to other leaves. In the present case, the policy restrains employees who own businesses from visiting their businesses while taking CFRA leave for fear that

they might be terminated based upon a good faith belief they are doing something inappropriate at their business.

1. The Written Policy In The Handbook Targeting Persons Taking
FMLA Is On Its Face A Discriminatory Policy Because It Only Applies
To FMLA Leave

A written policy that targets persons taking protected medical leave under the FMLA, and which imposes a different condition of employment (i.e. not accepting employment with another company while on approved FMLA leave (see 2CT 212) on the protected activity is per se discriminatory. Moreover, as applied to Appellant it is per se discriminatory because it was used against Appellant because he owned a business, which he visited before and during his CFRA leave.

The Power Toyota FMLA policy discriminates against persons who are taking CFRA leave because if Appellant was not taking CFRA leave there would be no policy violation. Applying Power Toyota's FMLA policy to employees who take CFRA/FMLA leave is per se discriminatory and per se a restraint, because it discriminates against them and restrains them from the ability to own and participate in a business while on CFRA leave. To demonstrate how discriminatory the policy is, it becomes clear when interchanging the protected status of taking CFRA leave, with race. Obviously, it would be illegal to have a policy explicitly stating that a Black employee cannot accept employment with another company while working for Power Toyota. Here, the policy that an employee cannot accept employment with another company while on FMLA leave would be just as illegal because it targets FMLA leave as the central factor in violating the policy.

Government Code § 12945.2(1) provides that it shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to refuse to hire, or to discharge, fine, suspend, expel, or discriminate against, any individual because ... an individual's exercise of the right to family care and medical leave In *Dudley v. Department of Transportation* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 255, 261, the elements for a cause of action for retaliation for taking CFRA medical leave are stated as: (1) the defendant was an employer covered by CFRA; (2) the

plaintiff was an employee eligible to take CFRA leave; (3) the plaintiff exercised her right to take leave for a qualifying CFRA purpose; and (4) the plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action, such as termination, fine, or suspension, because of her exercise of her right to CFRA leave.

Since the Arbitrator's finding of facts fulfill each element to find a cause of action for retaliation in violation of CFRA, the Arbitrator erred and denied Appellant his unwaivable legal right to be protected from discrimination and retaliation based upon taking CFRA medical leave.

Moreover, the policy targeting persons taking FMLA cannot be said to be a non-discriminatory reason to support a termination. It is per se discriminatory on its face. The Power Toyota policy is a specific policy that targets employees who take legally protected medical leave and discriminates against them as to owning a business like a fish market, or working a second job as in the *Lonicki v. Suttner Health Central* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 201, case. Furthermore, this policy is only meant to interfere with employees taking FMLA leave so it violates 29 CFR § 825.220(a).

Beyond all this, objectively, it is not the same to visit a business as a business owner, before and after taking CFRA leave, and accepting outside employment while on FMLA/CFRA leave. Pursuant to the wording in Power Toyota's FMLA policy, Mr. Richey did not violate it, and Power Toyota knew Mr. Richey had not violated it. There was no good faith, but only discriminatory animus, in the decision to not reinstate Mr. Richey after his CFRA leave.

a. Power Toyota's Policy As To FMLA Leave Did Not Give
 Appellant Notice It Applied To CFRA, Or That It Applied To
 Doing Things For One's Own Business

The Arbitrator found that Power Toyota's Employee Handbook policy as to FMLA leave was poorly written because it was not clear that it applied to Appellant. The Appellant had not accepted employment with another company while on medical leave, but was an owner of a restaurant before he even began the leave. (4CT 657- 658). Beyond this the written policy did not state it applied to CFRA leave. (see 2CT 212).

29 CFR § 825.300(c), as incorporated by 2 CCR § 7297.10, requires employers to give written notice to employees detailing specific expectations and obligations of the employee at the commencement of the FMLA leave. In the present case, the only possible notice was the written policy in the Handbook. However, the policy did not inform Appellant that he could be terminated for a good faith belief he may be performing tasks for his own business, or that the policy also applied to CFRA leave. The Handbook did not provide notice of the policy as stated by Mr. Vano, Senior Direct of H.R. Director, that:

"Mr. Vano explained, if an employee came to management and discussed the nature of the other job, a determination would be made whether the employee's duties at Power would be adversely affected or not, and permission would be granted or denied accordingly." See Final Award, page 17, lines 10-12. (4CT 658).

Additionally, 29 CFR § 825.300(e), as incorporated by 2 CCR § 7297.10, states:

"Failure to follow the notice requirements set forth in this section may constitute an interference with, restraint, or denial of the exercise of an employee's FMLA rights. An employer may be liable for compensation and benefits lost by reason of the violation, for other actual monetary losses sustained as a direct result of the violation, and for appropriate equitable or other relief, including employment, reinstatement, promotion, or any other relief tailored to the harm suffered (see \$825.400(c))"

In the 2 Cal.C.Regs. § 7297.9(a) it states:

"If the employer publishes an employee handbook which describes other kinds of personal or disability leaves available to its employees, that employer shall include a description of CFRA leave in the next edition of its handbook which it publishes following adoption of these regulations."

The 2004 Edition of the AutoNation Handbook does not contain any notice regarding CFRA medical leave. (1CT 190). Moreover, it fails to state any policy as to accepting employment with another company while on CFRA leave.

In *Mora Chem-Tronics, Inc.* (SD CA 1998) 16 F.Supp.2d 1192, 1223-1225, the court held an employee handbook did not provide adequate notice because it failed to provide information about intermittent leave and did not explain the interaction between conflicting FMLA and employer policies.

In the present case, it is legal error to use a vague, written policy, which did not specifically apply to Appellant's situation, as a reason to terminate Appellant. It is undisputed that the written policy, taken on its face, did not apply to Appellant owning a restaurant and doing tasks for the business while on CFRA leave. If the policy was legal, which it is not, Power Toyota could not terminate Appellant for reasons he did not receive written notice of, prior to the commencement of his CFRA leave.

I. The Arbitrator Denied Appellant His Unwaivable Right To Be Reinstated
From CFRA Leave And Protected From Retaliation And Discrimination
Related To His CFRA Leave, Because The Arbitrator Did Not Consider The
Proper Legal Elements To Determine The CFRA Violations

The Arbitrator stated: "The McDonnell Douglas [411 U.S. 792 (1973) framework is 'now routine' and provides the proper approach for claims under Title V11." Final Award, page 14, lines 10 and 11. (4CT 655). This is 100% wrong. The McDonnell Douglas shifting burden analysis is for summary judgments only, and never should be applied to a CFRA failure to reinstate cause of action after an arbitration hearing or trial. In Caldwell v. Paramount Unified School District (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 189, 204, the appellate court stated:

"In short, if and when the case is submitted to the jury, the construct of the shifting burdens "drops from the case," and the jury is left to decide which evidence it finds more convincing, that of the employer's discriminatory intent, or that of the employer's race- or age-neutral reasons for the employment decision. Because the only issue properly put to the jury here on the issue of employment discrimination was whether the District's decision to not renew Caldwell's contract was motivated by age or race, the shifting burdens of proof were irrelevant to the jury

deliberations. Consequently, the trial court should not have instructed the jury on McDonnell Douglas's three-stage burden of proof."

The Caldwell Court held that the trial court erred by instructing the trier of fact on the McDonnell Douglas shifting burden approach. Id. at 205. Thus, as to Appellant's discrimination and retaliation CFRA claims, the Arbitrator was doing an improper legal analysis. When he was analyzing discrimination the Arbitrator should have been determining whether a motivating factor in the termination of the Appellant was for an alleged illegal reason as asserted in the Appellant's complaint. (See CACI Instruction 2500, CACI Instruction 2505, CACI Instruction 2507, and CACI Instruction 2620). However instead, the Arbitrator was looking for a non-discriminatory reasons for the termination as if doing the first half of a McDonnell Douglas analysis. The problem with this approach is that in FEHA retaliation and discrimination claims, there can be multiple reasons for a termination. In Mixon v. Fair Employment and Housing Comm. (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1306, 1319 the court held that a plaintiff in a FEHA case need only prove that a motivating factor was an illegal reason, and that a plaintiff did not have to prove it was the sole reason. Thus, logically as to the Appellant's discrimination and retaliation claims, the Arbitrator finding a non-discriminatory motive for Mr. Richey's termination does not eliminate the logical possibility that there were multiple reasons for the termination to include illegal ones. The Arbitrator should have followed case law to determine whether an unlawful reason alleged by plaintiff was a motivating factor in the termination.

Beyond this, the most blatant error that denied Appellant an unwaivable statutory right, was the Arbitrator applying the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis to plaintiff's failure to reinstate claim under CFRA. It is never appropriate to apply a *McDonnell Douglas* analysis to a CFRA failure to reinstate cause of action. In *Faust v. California Portland Cement Company* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 864, 879, the court follows federal case law from the 9th Circuit regarding FMLA, to delineate the CFRA analysis for a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA. In analyzing an interference claim of a person's FMLA rights (to include failure to reinstate), the court holds that there is no *McDonnell Douglas*

Corp. v. Green burden shifting analysis when in a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA. Id. The Faust Court cites to two 9th Circuit court cases to determine the proper analysis for a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA, or interference with a CFRA right claim, Bachelder v. America West Airlines, Inc. (9th Cir 2001) 259 F.3d 1112, and Xin Liu v. Amway Corp. (9th Cir. 2003) 347 F.3d 1125 for the analysis in a failure to reinstate claim that is followed by CFRA. The Faust Court follows the federal 9th Circuit legal analysis to delineate the CFRA analysis for a failure to reinstate claim.

The Arbitrator erred by applying a *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green* burden shifting analysis to Appellant's claim for failure to reinstate under CFRA. (4CT 655-659).

1. The Facts That The Arbitrator Found Show Power Toyota Were Liable Under CFRA When The Proper LegalAnalysis Is Used

The Arbitrator found that Appellant was on approved CFRA leave when he was terminated by Power Toyota. See Final Award, page 13, line 14, and lines 23-24. (4CT 651). The Arbitrator stated in his award:

"Since Power Toyota applied CFRA/FMLA correctly, the dispute is narrowed to the issue of whether Mr. Richey could be terminated while away from work on a medical disability." (4CT 651).

Appellant suffered a back injury while moving furniture at home. See Final Award, page 4, lines 9 and 10. (4CT 645).

2 CCR § 7297.2 delineates the CFRA regulation regarding the right to reinstatement. 2 CCR § 7297.2(a) states:

"Upon granting the CFRA leave, the employer shall guarantee to reinstate the employee to the same or a comparable position, subject to the defenses permitted by section 7297.2, subdivisions (c)(1) and (c)(2), and shall provide the guarantee in writing upon request of the employee. It is an unlawful employment practice for an employer, after granting a requested CFRA leave, to refuse to honor its guarantee of reinstatement to the same or a comparable position at the end of the

leave, unless the refusal is justified by the defenses stated in § 7297.2, subdivisions (c)(1) and (c)(2)."

Appellant filed for CFRA and FMLA leave due to his back injury, which was granted and extended several times by Matrix (Matrix was the entity handling the medial leave on behalf of Power Toyota). (4CT 645). Dr. Finkelstein, Mr. Richey's treating doctor, told Matrix that Appellant was not able to work until May 28, 2008. See Final Award, page 4, lines 17-20. (4CT 645). Appellant's testimony at the arbitration hearing was that Dr. Finkelstein gave Appellant permission to work at his restaurant part-time, while he was unable to work at the car dealership full-time. (4CT 646).

As is evident from the legal analysis in the Arbitrator's Award, the Arbitrator was creating an erroneous legal analysis for a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA. Moreover, the Arbitrator's own finding of facts fulfill each element necessary to find liability in a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA. see CACI 2600.

2. CFRA Provides Only Two Defenses To Failing To Reinstate An Employee From Approved CFRA Leave

2 CCR § 7297.2 allows only two defenses to a failure to reinstate claim under CFRA, which are found in 2 CCR 7297.2, subdivision (c)(1) and (c)(2). A good faith honest belief is not delineated as a permissible defense to a CFRA failure to reinstate claim. The Appellant was denied his statutory unwaivable right to reinstatement after his CFRA leave because of the erroneous legal arguments and defenses created by the Arbitrator.

V.

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, and reasons stated in *Richey v. AutoNation, Inc.* (*supra*) 210 Cal.App.4th 1516, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Appellate Court's decision in its entirety. The clear legal errors by the Arbitrator denied Mr. Richey unwaivable statutory rights under FEHA. Pursuant to C.C.P. 1286.2, and for the reasons stated above, the Arbitrator's Final Award should be vacated because he

exceeded his powers and the award cannot be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the controversy submitted.

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